United States Court of Appeals,
El eventh Gircuit.
Nos. 95-9066, 95-9085 and 95-9165.
UNI TED STATES of Anerica, Plaintiff-Appellee,
V.
Thomas Low ance KUMVER, Def endant - Appel | ant.
UNI TED STATES of Anerica, Plaintiff-Appellee,
V.
Robert Jerva JERN GAN, Defendant- Appel | ant.
UNI TED STATES of Anerica, Plaintiff-Appellee,
V.
John E. OGLESBY, Defendant- Appell ant.
Aug. 2, 1996.
Appeals from the United States District Court for the Southern
?uaggl ct of Georgia. (No. CR494-165), B. Avant Edenfield, Chief

Bef ore EDMONDSON and DUBINA, Circuit Judges, and LOGAN, Seni or
Circuit Judge.

LOGAN, Senior Circuit Judge:

In these consolidated direct crimnal appeals, defendants
Thomas Kunmer (No. 95-9066), John Ogl esby (No. 95-9165), and Robert
T. Jernigan (No. 95-9085) appeal fromsentences inposed after they
each pleaded guilty to one count of violating 18 U S . C. § 1954
("Ofer, acceptance, or solicitation to influence operations of

enpl oyee benefit plans")® pursuant to plea agreements. Defendants

"Honor abl e Janmes K. Logan, Senior U.S. Circuit Judge for the
Tenth Circuit, sitting by designation.

YTnitially Kunmer was charged with and pleaded guilty to
conspiracy to violate the statute, under 18 U.S.C. §8 371. The
court then determ ned that Kummer pleaded guilty w thout know ng



argue that the district court erred in sentencing them for
involvenent in a bribe rather than a gratuity, which they assert
was the charge and the plea to which they agreed. Alternatively
def endants Kummer and Jerni gan contend they should be allowed to
withdraw their guilty pleas. Defendants also individually allege
various errors by the district court related to sentencing.
I

Def endant Jernigan was the business agent and financial
secretary for the United Brotherhood of Carpenters Local 256 in
Savannah, Georgia; he was also trustee of the local's health and
wel fare plan, an enpl oyee benefit plan. H s union needed to obtain
a loan to assist in financing its wunion hall, and he asked
def endant Ogl esby for assistance in that matter. Oglesby was the
gener al representative of the Brotherhood of Car penters
I nternational Union in the southeastern United States. gl esby and
Jerni gan had worked together because of Jernigan's representation
of the local union and QOglesby's work with the international
of fice. In response to Jernigan's request for assistance in
obtaining a loan for the union hall, Oglesby told Jernigan about
hi s associ ates Thomas Kummer and Edward Killian who were invol ved
in the Tahoe Conpany, a real estate devel opnent conpany |ocated in
Reno, Nevada. Kunmer was general counsel of Tahoe; Killian was
acting vice president and secretary of Tahoe, as well as being a

menber of the board of directors of Commercial Pacific Savings and

that the conspiracy charge carried a five-year statutory maxi num
penalty, and it allowed himto plead to a new i nformation
charging the substantive offense of 18 U.S.C. § 1954 which has a
t hree-year statutory maxi num penalty.



Loan (Conpac). Tahoe was engaged in soliciting investnents from
busi ness agents of union benefit plans in exchange for pronoting
uni on | abor and construction projects devel oped by Tahoe.
Fol | owi ng gl esby's advice, Jernigan talked to Killian about
getting a loan for the union hall. Jernigan also told Killian that
he needed to refinance a nortgage on the house where he lived.
Killian suggested that Conpac mght be able to make Jernigan a
personal loan. Killian sent Jernigan a personal | oan application,
whi ch Conpac deni ed because of his poor credit rating. Oglesby
then tol d Jernigan that Tahoe was receiving i nvestnents froml ocal
unions and that if an investnent was nmade from Jernigan's |oca
union it would increase the possibility that he would receive the
personal |oan he was seeking. Jernigan then called Killian, who
told himthat an investnent fromthe health and wel fare plan woul d
"just about secure any type of |oan" for which Jernigan applied.
gl esby Presentence Report (PSR) at § 5; 2 R at 15 (No. 95-9085).
Killian advised Jernigan to ask his girlfriend, Lori Stone, to
apply for the refinancing loan in her name because Stone's credit
rati ng was better than Jernigan's. Killian apparently told Ogl esby
t hat a personal | oan woul d have to be nade to Jernigan to nmake sure
that he would invest approximtely $250,000 from the health and
wel fare plan in Tahoe. gl esby Presentence Report at WW4, 6. On
February 2, 1990, Jernigan wired $253,041.84 from the union's
health and welfare plan to Conpac to purchase Tahoe st ock. In
making this transfer Jernigan did not obtain the required
aut hori zation of another representative of the health and welfare

plan. On February 5, 1990, Jerni gan received an $85, 000 | oan from



Conpac secured by a $95,000 certificate of deposit that Tahoe
obt ai ned using the funds Jernigan had wired to Tahoe.

On February 21, 1990, in a recorded conversation defendant
Kumer told David Brunbel oe, a Tahoe sharehol der, that he had
called Jernigan to persuade himto purchase the stock with funds
fromthe union's health and wel fare plan. Kumrer indicated that in
return Tahoe woul d ensure that Jernigan received the honme | oan.

On March 31, 1990, Jernigan received fromTahoe a $6, 000 check
made out to him but which he was to deliver to Waylon Mrton, a
busi ness agent of the union local in Macon, Ceorgia. Mrton had
requested a cash paynent from Tahoe before he woul d agree to use
union annuity funds to purchase shares of Tahoe stock. Jernigan,
however, cashed the check and spent the noney. On May 8, 1990,
Morton invested $78,586.72 from his union's annuity plan wth
Tahoe. The following July 2 Killian sent a $6,000 paynent to
Morton as a result of his earlier investnent.

gl eshy recei ved $29, 900 over a period of tine in fees, |oans
and expense reinbursenents from Tahoe; some of this noney was
obtai ned through a personal |oan nmade to him by Conpac based on
Killian's authorization.

After a lengthy investigation by the Departnent of Labor,
def endants were charged by information with violating 18 U . S.C. 8§
1954, "Ofer, acceptance, or solicitation to influence operations
of enpl oyee benefit plan.” Section 1954, as pertinent, provides
t hat :

Woever bei ng—

(1) an admnistrator, officer, trustee, custodian,
counsel, agent, or enployee of any enployee welfare benefit



pl an or enpl oyee pension benefit plan; or

(2) an officer, counsel, agent, or enployee of an
enpl oyer or an enpl oyer any of whose enpl oyees are covered by
such plan; or

(3) an officer, counsel, agent, or enployee of an
enpl oyee organi zati on any of whose nenbers are covered by such
pl an; or

(4) a person who, or an officer, counsel, agent, or
enpl oyee of an organization which, provides benefit plan
services to such plan
receives or agrees to receive or solicits any fee, kickback,
commi ssion, gift, |loan, noney, or thing of val ue because of or
with intent to be influenced with respect to, any of his
actions, decisions, or other duties relating to any question
or matter concerning such plan or any person who directly or
indirectly gives or offers, or prom ses to give or offer, any
fee, kickback, commission, gift, |oan, noney, or thing of
val ue prohibited by this section, shall be fined under this
title or inprisoned not nore than three years, or both.

18 U.S.C. 8§ 1954.

Al t hough 8 1954 does not use the term"bribe" or "gratuity,"”
the courts have noted that the | anguage "because of, or with intent
to be influenced" corresponds with a "bribe/gratuity dichotony."
United States v. Lopreato, 83 F.3d 571, 575 (2d Cr.1996). The
"With intent to be influenced" |anguage prohibits a bribe, which
involves a quid pro quo. 1d.; see also United States v. Mari ano,
983 F.2d 1150, 1159 (1st Cir.1993) (a bribe involves intention of
briber to gain quid pro quo); United States v. Ml doon, 931 F.2d
282, 287 (4th Gr.1991) (payer's intent to influence recipient's
actions distinguishes bribe from gratuity). The "because of"
| anguage prohibits a gratuity, which involves no quid pro quo, but
is a paynent made "because of the act.” Ml doon, 931 F. 2d at 287.

Unlike other federal statutes prohibiting bribes and

gratuities, 8 1954 provides the same maxi nrumpenalty for violation



of the "because of" (gratuity) or the "intent to be influenced"
(bribe) language of the statute. See 18 U.S.C. § 1954 (providing
maxi mum of three years inprisonnent); cf. 18 U.S.C. § 201(b)
(bribery of public official or wtness) (nmaxinmum penalty fifteen
years) and id. 8 201(c) (gratuity) (maxinmum penalty two years).
The Sentencing Guidelines that apply to 8 1954, however, do nmake a
di stinction between a bribe and a gratuity, providing for a base
of fense level often for a bribe and six for a gratuity. USSG 8§
2E5.1(a)(1) and (2). Application Note 1 to USSG § 2E5.1 defines
bribe as "the offer or acceptance of an unlawful paynment with the
specific understanding that it will corruptly affect an officia
action of the recipient;"” Application Note 2 defines gratuity as
"the offer or acceptance of an unlawful paynment other than a
bribe." Thus the Guidelines follow the distinction nmade in other
statutes that a bribe involves a specific understanding that it
will affect an official action—a quid pro quo.

The informations in the instant cases al |l eged that defendants
were involved in a "gratuity,” and did not refer to a "bribe." But
t hey each included essentially the "wth intent to be influenced
with respect to" |anguage of 8 1954 that generally refers to a
bri be. See 1 R doc. 1 at WV 3, 6, 7 (No. 95-9066) (Kunmer
conspired to obtain noney for stock "in exchange for" providing a
| oan for Jernigan's benefit, 1 3; he conbined with others to offer
value "to influence" the operations of an enpl oyee benefit plan, 1
6; he assisted others "to influence" Jernigan to use plan noneys
to buy Tahoe stock, ¥ 7); 1 R doc. 1 at WW5, 6 (No. 95-9165)

(gl esby received from Tahoe noneys "because of and with intent to



be influenced with respect to his actions"” concerning a welfare
plan, § 5; he participated in negotiations to arrange a financi al
benefit to Jernigan "in exchange for" Jernigan's use of plan funds
to buy Tahoe stock, § 6); 1 R doc. 1 at § 5 (No. 95-9085)
(Jernigan received noneys "because of and with intent to be
i nfluenced with respect to his actions” relating to a wel fare pl an,
15).

The plea agreenents also used the |anguage in a confusing
manner, stating that "Count One alleges a violation of Title 18,
United States Code, Section 1954, that is, to offer a gratuity to
i nfluence the operations of an enployee benefit plan."” (enphasis
added). See 1 R doc. 19 at Y 5a (No. 95-9066) (Kummrer); see also
1 R doc. 13 at § 5a (No. 95-9085) (Jernigan) (same except "accept
a gratuity to influence"); 1 R doc. 12 at ¥ 5a (No. 95-9165)
(gl esby) (sane except "offer and accept a gratuity to influence").
The agreenments al so stated "defendant understands that Count One

charges the defendant with offering sonething of value to
i nfluence the operations of an enpl oyee benefit plan.” 1 R doc.
19 at § 6a (No. 95-9066) (Kummer); see also 1 R doc. 13 at Y 6a
(No. 95-9085) (Jernigan) (sane except "obtaining a gratuity to
influence"); 1 R doc. 12 at  6a (Ogl esby) (sanme except "Ofer,
Acceptance, and Solicitation to Influence"). The governnent then
agreed that the base offense | evel was based on USSG § 2E5. 1(a) (2),
gratuity, which would be six.

When defendants Kummer and Jernigan entered their quilty
pleas, the district court told each defendant, as the plea

agreenent provided, that for sentencing purposes it was not binding



on the court and that if the court did not accept the
recommendations in it they would not be able to withdraw. See 2 R
at 32-33 (No. 95-9066); 3 R at 32-33 (No. 95-9085). The judge
al so stated, however, that if he did not accept the plea agreenents
he woul d give thema chance to wthdraw. 1d. at 43-44; 66 (both
records).

Upon conpletion of the presentence reports (PSRs), the
probation officer recomended that the judge find all of the
def endants had been involved in a bribe, and thus apply the base
of fense level of ten. The PSRs differed in several respects from
the plea agreenents, including recommending a higher valuation
Def endant s made nunerous objections to the PSRs. The U.S. Attorney
also filed objections, in particular stating that the transaction
shoul d not be classified as a bribe. The probation office then
produced an addendumto the PSRs, in which it revised upward sone
of its recommendations. Defendants then filed further objections
and the probation office nade a final report.

After holding a hearing for defendants Kunmer, Jernigan and
Killian, during which both the probation officer and the |abor
departnent investigator testified, the district court accepted the
PSRs' recommendations that the paynments were bribes and thus the
base offense level was ten. The district court did not allow
def endants Kurmmer or Jernigan to withdraw their pleas.? Defendant

gl esby was sentenced later than the other defendants; t he

*The district court did at one point ask defendant
Jernigan's counsel if he wanted to wthdraw the guilty plea.
When Jernigan's counsel stated he would "have to think about
that," the district court rescinded the offer. See 2 R 23 (No.
95-9085) .



district court gave himthe opportunity to withdraw his plea but
gl esby declined. The district court adopted nost of the other
sentenci ng recommendations in each defendant's PSR and addendum
It sentenced Jernigan to twenty-four nonths; Kunmer to eighteen
nmont hs, and QOgl esby to fourteen nonths.
I

Def endants argue that they were charged with and pleaded
guilty only to the gratuity prong of 8 1954; that they nust be
sentenced for a gratuity; that the court should have applied the
base offense level for gratuities in the Sentencing Guidelines.
This argunent is based on a reading of 8 1954 as including two
di stinct offenses—bri be or gratuity—-as opposed to one offense. W
have found no Eleventh Circuit case, or any other circuit case
specifically addressing whether 8§ 1954 contains two separate
offenses. Cf. United States v. Gayle, 967 F.2d 483, 485 n. 3 (11lth
Cir.1992) (en banc) (stating that 18 U S.C. 8§ 912, which provides
"Whoever falsely assunes or pretends to be an officer or enpl oyee
acting under the authority of the United States ... and acts as
such, or in such pretended character demands or obtains any noney"
contains two distinct offenses), cert. denied, 507 U S. 967, 113
S.Ct. 1402, 122 L.Ed.2d 775 (1993). But the case | aw we have found
fromother circuits suggests that 8§ 1954 contai ns only one of f ense.
See, e.g., United States v. Rosenthal, 9 F.3d 1016, 1017, 1020,
1024 (2d Cir.1993) (defendant was charged "with offering a gratuity
in connection wth a pension plan” and court referred to conviction
for "intent to influence"); see also United States v. Lopreato, 83

F.3d 571, 574 (2d Cir.1996) ("While the difference between a bribe



and a gratuity does not affect the propriety of [defendant's]

conviction under section 1954(1), a bribe commands a hi gher base
| evel under the Sentencing Guidelines."). Further, neither the
title of the statute, "Ofer, acceptance, or solicitation to
i nfluence operations of enployee benefit plan,” nor its wording
make a distinction between bribe and gratuity. W hold that the
statute states a single crine, and it is only the Sentencing
GQuidelines that differentiate between Ilevels of punishnment

applicable to that single offense. Thus, even though the
informations in these cases used the term "gratuity,"” defendants
pl eaded guilty to violating the statute. The |anguage of the
informations alone did not foreclose the district court from

assigning a base offense level for bribe.?

®Sent encing Quideline § 1B1.2 provides that the court
"Determ ne the offense guideline section in Chapter Two (O fense
Conduct) nost applicable to the offense of conviction (i.e., the
of fense conduct charged in the count of the indictnment or
i nformati on of which the defendant was convicted)."” There is no
guestion that the of fense guideline section applicable here is 8§
2E5.1, "Ofering, Accepting, or Soliciting a Bribe or Gatuity
Affecting the Operation of an Enpl oyee Welfare or Pension Benefit
Pl an; Prohibited Paynents or Lendi ng of Money by Enpl oyee or
Agent to Enpl oyees, Representatives, or Labor Organizations."”
That Cuideline, however, contains two offense |levels. The
GQui delines provide that "[w] here there is nore than one base
offense level within a particular guideline, the determ nation of
t he applicable base offense level is treated in the sanme manner
as a determnation of a specific offense characteristic.” USSG 8§
1B1.2, comment. (n. 2). Then USSG § 1Bl.3(a) states,

Unl ess otherw se specified, (I) the base offense |evel
where the guideline specifies nore than one base

of fense level, [and] (ii) specific offense
characteristics, ... shall be determ ned on the basis
of the follow ng:

1(A) all acts and om ssions conmtted, aided, abetted,
counsel ed, conmmanded, induced, procured, or willfully
caused by the defendant; and



11

Def endant s next assert that the pl ea agreenents provided t hat
they were involved in a "gratuity" but not a "bribe." As
previously noted, Jernigan's plea agreenent stated, "[t]he
def endant understands that Count One alleges a violation of Title
18, United States Code, Section 1954, that is, to accept a gratuity
to influence the operations of enpl oyee benefits plans.” 1 R doc.
13 at § 5a (No. 95-9085) (enphasis added); see also 1 R doc. 12
at T 5a (No. 95-9165) (gl esby) ("offer and accept a gratuity");
| R doc. 19 at  5a (No. 95-9066) (Kummer) ("offer a gratuity").
| ndeed, our review of the record suggests that both the governnent
and defendants believed that the agreenent was to plead to a
violation of the statute through the gratuity prong.

Def endants Jerni gan and Kunmer argue that under Federal Rule
of Crimnal Procedure 11 the court was obligated to enter a
sentence consistent with the plea agreement or to reject the plea
agreenment entirely and all ow defendants to wthdraw their guilty
pl ea.

Rul e 11(e) (1) provides:

In General . The attorney for the governnent and the
attorney for the defendant or the defendant when acting pro se
may engage in discussions with a view toward reaching an
agreenent that, upon the entering of a plea of guilty or nolo
contendere to a charged offense or to a lesser or related

of fense, the attorney for the governnment will do any of the
f ol | owi ng:

(4) any other information specified in the
appl i cabl e gui del i ne.

Thus, despite use of the termgratuity in the
infornmation, the determ nation of the base offense | evel
under 8 2E5.1 is to be made based on all of the information
provi ded at sentencing.



(A) nove for dism ssal of other charges; or

(B) make a recomendation, or agree not to oppose the
defendant's request, for a particular sentence, wth the
under st andi ng t hat such recommendati on or request shall not be
bi ndi ng upon the court;

(C agree that a specific sentence is the appropriate
di sposition of the case.

The court shall not participate in any such discussion.
In United States v. Dean, 80 F.3d 1535 (11th Cir.1996), this court
di stingui shed subsection (B) plea agreenents fromthose under the
ot her subsecti ons.

One inportant distinction between "B" pleas and "A" or

"C' pleas is that only "B" pleas nmay be nodified: "such a
recomrendati on or request shall not be binding upon the
court.” This is nade clear in Rule 11(e)(2), which states, in

pertinent part:

| f the agreenent is of the type specified in subdivision
(e)(1)(A) or (C, the court may accept or reject the
agreenent, or nmay defer its decision as to the acceptance
or rejection until there has been an opportunity to
consi der the presentence report. |If the agreenment is of
the type specified in subdivision (e)(1)(B), the court
shal | advise the defendant that if the court does not
accept the recomendation or request the defendant
neverthel ess has no right to withdraw the plea.

Id. at 1539. As applicable here, if thisis a "C' plea agreenent

the court nust sinply accept or reject the entire plea agreenent;

if it is a "B" agreenent the court may accept the plea and reject

t he recommended puni shnent. See id. at 1541.

The pl ea agreenents here contai ned the prosecution's prom se
to recomend a downward adjustnent for acceptance  of
responsibility, and to consider asking for a USSG § 5KI1.1
substanti al assi stance downward departure if it appeared justified.
Those are clearly type "B" recomendati ons; defendants woul d not

be able to withdraw their gqguilty pleas if the district court



deci ded not to follow them See Dean, 80 F.3d at 1538-39.
Def endants argue, however, that the governnment's agreenent that
each defendant was involved in a gratuity and that USSG 8§
2E5.1(a)(2) controlled the determnation of the sentencing
gui del i ne range shoul d be construed as a type "C' agreenent. Thus,
def endants contend that the i nstant agreenents contai ned both type
"B" agreenments to recommend particul ar sentencing options as well
as type "C' agreenent that the offense fell under the gratuity base
| evel offense of USSG § 2E5. 1(a)(2).

This court has said that when the governnent "or the court”
does not follow a plea agreenent the court should order specific
performance or afford the defendant an opportunity to wi thdrawthe
pl ea; and specific performance is preferred. United States v.
Jefferies, 908 F.2d 1520, 1527 (11th Cr.1990) (plea stipulation
specified drug quantity but court found quantity to be larger);
see also United States v. Taylor, 77 F.3d 368, 371 (11th Cr. 1996)
(governnent paid "lip service" to plea agreenent but then
affirmatively supported position inconsistent wth agreenent;
defendant allowed to withdraw plea); United States v. Rew s, 969
F.2d 985, 988-89 (11th Cr.1992) (when governnment breached plea
agreenment, renedies include specific enforcenent or permtting
wi t hdrawal of plea).

Consi dering the anmbi guous nature of the agreenent, this is a
cl ose case. The agreenents did not state that they were type "C
agreenments or that they were type "B" agreenents. They did not
provi de that defendants could withdraw if the court determned it

coul d not apply the gratuity base offense | evel. The references to



"gratuity" mght be viewed as factual stipulations, and as such
t hey woul d not be binding on the court. See USSG § 6Bl1.4(d). For
t he reasons stated in the prior sections of this opinion the text
of the agreenent is not inconsistent with holding they are type "B"
agreenents, fromwhi ch defendants woul d not be entitled to w thdraw
when the court deci ded not to follow the sentencing
recommendati ons. But we nust al so consider the advisenent of the
court when it accepted the pleas of Kummer and Jernigan. Although
the district court told defendants they woul d be unable to w t hdraw
because the agreenent was not binding on the court, it also twce
informed themthat they would be able to withdrawtheir plea if the
court did not accept the agreenent.?’

Considering all the circunstances, including the sentencing
court's statenents to the defendants, if the court could not in
good conscience accept the violations as justifying a sentence

under the gratuity guideline, the sentencing court was obligated to

‘At the plea hearing, the district court stated that the
"[p]l ea agreenent is not binding upon the Court. The Court, of
course, will have the presentence at sone tinme, and if the Court
shoul d reject the plea agreenent, of course, you may w thdraw and
enter a plea of not guilty and proceed to trial." 2 R at 32
(No. 95-9066); 3 R at 32 (No. 95-9085). The court also stated
that "[y]our |awyers and the governnent, no doubt, wll make a
recommendation to ne as to what sentence should be inposed, as
wel|l as the probation officers. | amnot bound by those
recommendations; they are only that. You cannot w thdraw your
pl ea of guilty even though |I do not accept the recommendation.”
Id. at 33. The governnent then recited the terns of the plea
agreenents, referring to gratuity. See id. at 36-38, 41-42. The
district court then stated "the agreement is not binding upon the
Court, but if the Court should reject it, or any of them you
will be given an opportunity to wthdraw your plea of guilty and
enter a plea of not guilty.” 1d. at 43-44. Finally, at the end
of the hearing the judge stated that he accepted the guilty plea,
but that after the PSRs were prepared, "if | find that | cannot
accept the plea, at that point I will reject it and all ow
everybody to enter a plea of not guilty.” Id. at 66.



all oww thdrawal of the guilty pleas. See United States v. Forbes,
888 F.2d 752, 753-54 (11th G r.1989) (when court found reduction
for mnor role, as agreed upon by defendant and governnent, not
justified by PSR, court offered to allow defendant to wthdraw
guilty plea). Because defendants Kunmer and Jernigan were not
afforded the opportunity to withdraw their pleas, we remand to the
district court with the direction that it permt themto wthdraw
their guilty pleas.

The court did offer defendant QOgl esby the opportunity to
wi thdraw his plea and he declined. He does not argue that the
governnment breached the plea agreenent. Thus, defendant Ogl esby's
right to any relief is dependent upon the nerits of the clains he
rai ses that we discuss hereafter.

|V

Each defendant asserts that the district court erred inits
factual determ nation that the base offense |level for the offense
of conviction was ten (bribe) rather than six (gratuity). See USSG
§ 2E5.1(a)(1) and (2). As previously noted, the base offense | evel
for a bribe applies if there was an offer or acceptance of unl awf ul
paynment "with the specific understanding that it wll corruptly
affect an official action of the recipient,” USSG 8§ 2E5.1 comrent.
(n. 1); a gratuity is "the offer or acceptance of an unlaw ul
paynment other than a bribe,” id. comment. (n. 2). W review the
district court's findings of fact on this issue for clear error and
revi ew de novo the application of the Guidelines to the facts. See
United States v. Jennings, 991 F.2d 725, 732 (11th G r.1993).

Def endants argue that there was no evidence of a specific



understanding or a quid pro quo. They point to testinony by Sandra
Rackl eff, the | abor departnent agent who i nvesti gated t he case over
a five year period, that she did not think there was enough
evi dence of a quid pro quo on which to base a bribe offense |evel.
The United States probation officer, in contrast, testified that
her recommendation to the contrary was based on a belief that the
evi dence supported an understandi ng between Jerni gan and t he Tahoe
Conmpany which pronpted himto invest the health and wel fare plan
nmoney i n Tahoe stock. She recited evidence that Ogl esby spoke to
Jerni gan several times to encourage Jernigan to invest in Tahoe,
t he turndown of Jernigan's first application for aloan, the timng
of the defendants' discussions, the investnment purchase, the |oan
made to Jernigan's girlfriend, and Ogl esby's grand jury testinony.
The probation officer highlighted Jernigan's grand jury testinony®
t hat he was pushed i nto purchasi ng Tahoe shares by phone calls and
contacts in part from Oglesby and also from Killian. She al so
pointed to gl esby's grand jury testinony that "[the honme | oan] was

a commtnent that [Ed Killian] had nmade to Robert Jernigan in order

°Def endant Jerni gan rai ses the issue whether the probation
officer inproperly relied on information gained fromhis grand
jury testinony in determning his guideline range. That would
violate USSG § 1B1.8, which prohibits use of self-incrimnating
i nformati on provided pursuant to a cooperation agreenent from
bei ng used in determ ning the applicable guideline range, except
to the extent provided in the agreenent. The PSR, its addendum
and the probation officer's testinony indicate that she relied on
Jernigan's and Ogel sby's grand jury testinony in nmaking the
bri bery recomrendation. But the court rem nded the officer that
such self-incrimnating testinony could not be used against a
cooperating defendant. The court then elicited fromthe officer
t hat she woul d have arrived at the same conclusion w thout
considering the grand jury testinony. Mre inportantly, as noted
by the quotation in the text, the district court disclainmed any
such reliance in making its own concl usion.



for Robert Jernigan to nmake the investnent." 2 R 68 (No. 95-
9085) .

In sentencing Jernigan the district court alluded to its own
prior coments, as the testinony and argunents were nade to it.
The judge stated, "I think I made it known of my beliefs of why |
found the bribe instead of the gratuity. According to the | aw and
to case law it is not a matter of senmantics. In no way can
[Jernigan' s] testinony before the grand jury be used agai nst him
But the clear wording of the excerpts of the other defendants, the
coi nci dences or |lack of coincidences and all indicated but one
conclusion to this Court."”™ Id. at 87. The court's coments in
sentencing Kunmer, 3 R at 49, 56 (No. 95-9066), and QOgel sby, 2 R
at 83-84 (No. 95-9165), are not as extensive but are to the same
effect.

O course, the standard for a sentencing court on a disputed
fact involved in sentencing is a preponderance of the evidence.
United States v. Ignancio Minio, 909 F. 2d 436, 439 (11th Cr. 1990),
cert. denied, 499 U. S. 938, 111 S. C. 1393, 113 L. Ed. 2d 449 (1991).
"I'n resol ving any reasonabl e di spute concerning a factor inportant
to the sentencing determ nation, the court may consider relevant
information wthout regard to its adm ssibility under the rul es of
evi dence applicable at trial, provided that the information has
sufficient indicia of reliability to support its probable
accuracy." USSG 8§ 6Al.3(a). The court's finding is not clearly
erroneous. There was sufficient evidence on which the court could
find that the | oan was a bribe under USSG § 2E5.1(a)(1), and thus

a base offense | evel of ten was appropriate.



\Y
Def endants argue that the district court erred in determ ning
the increase in their offense | evels under USSG § 2E5.1(b)(2). W
reviewthe district court's determnations on this issue for clear
error. See United States v. Hang, 75 F.3d 1275, 1284 (8th
GCir.1996).

The Guidelines direct the court to increase the offense | evel
"by the nunber of levels fromthe table in 8 2F1.1 (Fraud and
Deceit) corresponding to the value of the prohibited paynent or the
val ue of the inproper benefit to the payer, whichever is greater."”
USSG 8§ 2E5.1(b)(2). The district court adopted the PSRs
recomendati on that the of fense characteristics be increased based
on the "value of the inproper benefit to the payer,"” which it
stated was the full anobunt of Jernigan's $253, 041 purchase of Tahoe
securities.® Al'l defendants argue the value of the inproper
benefit to Tahoe executives was not the full anmount of the stock
pur chase.

Def endants contend that the "value of the prohibited
paynent"—the loan to Jernigan—should be used as the basis for
increasing the offense level.’ They then argue that the val ue of
the loan for Jernigan's benefit was |less than the $85,000 | oan

anount. Ogl esby argues further that his plea agreenent stipul ated

®An additional $78,000 investnment by a union official,
Morton, steered to Tahoe by Jernigan, was added to the inproper
benefit total in the PSR addendum W do not address that
addi tion because it nmakes no difference to our analysis.

‘The plea agreenent with Jernigan stated that he agreed the
amount of the gratuity was "approxi mately $91, 000," apparently
consi sting of the $85,000 | oan plus the $6, 000 check Jernigan
received and kept. 1 R doc. 13 f 5a. (No. 95-9085).



t he prohibited payment was a gratuity of |ess than $40, 000.

If the increase in offense level is to be based on the "val ue
of the inproper benefit to payer,” that termis defined in the
"Commentary to 8§ 2Cl.1." USSG 8§ 2E5.1 coment. (n. 4).
Application Note 2 to § 2C1.1 provides that " "the benefit received
or to be received neans the net value of such benefit.” 1t then
provi des as an exanple that if a $150,000 contract is awarded in
return for a bribe, and $20,000 profit was nmade on the contract,
the "val ue of the benefit received is $20,000." Id.

The basis of defendants' argument that the district court
erred in using the entire anount of the $253, 000 purchase of Tahoe
stock is that the stock had sone val ue. See United States v.
Fit zhugh, 78 F.3d 1326, 1331 (8th Cr.1996) ("value of transaction
is often quite different than the face anount of the transaction").
Al t hough the district court adopted the PSR recomendati on on this
i ssue, the factual findings underlying its determ nation are not
cl ear. The district court may have concluded the stock had no
val ue, and therefore the entire anount of the purchase was the net
val ue of benefit received by Tahoe. Cf. Lopreato, 83 F.3d at 576
(district court could have properly concluded securities had no
val ue where evi dence showed active | ooting of conpany and i npaired
collateral).

This issue may becone rel evant again on the remand we order
If it does the district court should nmake explicit factual findings
as to value of the inproper benefit. The court nust determ ne the
net benefit of the $253,000 stock purchase to Tahoe. If that

figure is less than the $85,000 |oan to Jernigan, as enhanced by



t he $6, 000 check paynent Jernigan retained, the court will need to
determne the value of the loan to see if it is greater than the
net value of the Tahoe investnent. The value of a loan to the
borrower may al so be less than the face amount. See Fitzhugh, 78
F.3d at 1331 (renmandi ng and noting that "scanty evi dence" suggests
value of loan was less than face anount). If the borrower's
prom se to repay were worthl ess or unenforceabl e, the value of the
| oan m ght be the face value. 1d. at 1331 n. 2. Further, "[w] hen
a loan is obtained by bribes, it is likely to be at favorable
terms, in which case its value will typically be the difference
bet ween the actual cost of the |oan and the cost of the sane | oan
at fair market terns and conditions.” 1d. at 1331. W |eave the
val uation questions to the district court on remand.
Vi

Def endants Ogel sby and Jernigan assert that the district
court erred in assessing them a two-level increase for abuse of
position of trust. USSG § 3B1.3 provides for a two | evel increase
in the base offense level "[i]f the defendant abused a position of
public or private trust, or used a special skill, in a manner that
significantly facilitated the commi ssion or conceal nrent of the
offense.” They first attack the legal basis for the two-Ievel
i ncrease, asserting it anmpbunts to double counting under Section
3B1.3, which also provides that "[t]his adjustnent may not be
enployed if an abuse of trust or skill is included in the base
of fense |l evel or specific offense characteristic.” W reviewthe
district court's factual determnation on this issue for clear

error, but the question whether these facts justify the abuse of



trust enhancenent is a question of law that we review de novo.
United States v. Terry, 60 F.3d 1541, 1545 (11th Cr.1995), cert.
denied, --- US =----, 116 S.C. 737, 133 L.Ed.2d 687 (1996).
These defendants point to the comentary to other Cuidelines
relating to public corruption cases, USSG 88 2Cl.1 and 2Cl1.2
(bribes and gratuities), which state that generally 8§ 3B1.3 should
not be applied in these cases because the Guidelines took into
consideration the fact that such cases necessarily invol ve abuse of
positions of trust.® See USSG §§ 2Cl1.1, coment. (n. 3) (bribery);
2Cl1.2, comment. (n. 2) (gratuity).

W reject this argunent. First, any private citizen could
offer a bribe or gratuity to influence the operation of an enpl oyee
benefit plan in violation of § 1954; they need not be in any
position of trust. Thus, the 8 2E5.1 base offense | evel does not
i nclude an abuse of trust. 1In United States v. Pedersen, 3 F.3d
1468, 1470, 1470 n. 6 (11th Cr.1993), we allowed enhancenent for
abuse of "special trust" under 8§ 3B1.3 in an insider trading case
even though an elenent of trust is inplicit in laws prohibiting

i nsi der trading. W noted that the "Sentencing Conmm ssion has

®These defendants al so note that the base offense |evel for
a gratuity to a public official is a |evel seven, USSG § 2C1. 2,
whil e the base offense level for a gratuity under § 2E5.1(a)(2)
is six; they assert this one-level difference denonstrates that
t he Comm ssion views public corruption offenses under § 2Cl.2 as
nore serious. Defendants argue "there is no rational basis for
permtting an increase of two |evels pursuant to U S.S.G 8§ 3B1.3
for a bribery or gratuity offense under U S.S.G § 2E5.1
i nvol ving union officials, where the Guidelines relating to the
nore serious offense of public corruption covered by § 2Cl.2 do
not permt such an increase because they recogni ze that the abuse
of trust factor was already taken into consideration in the
formul ati on of those Guidelines.” Brief of Appellant Ogl esby at
26.



expressly excepted certain offenders fromparticul ar enhancenents
where it intended to do so." Second, this conclusion seens
conpel l ed by Guideline section 2E5. 1: "If the adjustnment for a
fiduciary at 8 2E5.1(b) (1) applies, do not apply the adjustnent at
8§ 3Bl1.3 (Abuse of Trust or Use of Special Skill)." USSG § 2E5.1

comment. (n. 5).

(gl esby also attacks the factual finding that he was in a
position of trust, noting that he was not a "fiduciary of the
benefit plan or | abor organi zation" as specified in 8 2E5.1(b)(1).
But the abuse of trust enhancenent only requires a finding that
def endant possessed a position "characterized by professional or
managerial discretion” which "contributed in some significant way
to facilitating the commission ... of the offense."” USSG § 3Bl. 3,
corment. (n. 1). In his position as a union official Ogl esby had
such discretion, and as the |abor investigator pointed out, his
position significantly contributed to facilitating the conm ssion
of the offense in this case. The district court did not abuse its
di scretion in giving defendant Ogl esby the two-1evel increase under
§ 3B1. 3.

VI |

Def endant gl esby's argunent that he should have received a
two- | evel downward adjustnment under USSG 8§ 3Bl1.2(b) for being "a
m nor participant” does not inpress us. Pointing to Special Agent
Rackl eff's testi nony at sentencing that he did not have control or
authority over the noney or transactions, he contends he was |ess
cul pable than the other defendants. But Rackleff also testified

that Oglesby was the facilitator of the transaction; and the



record shows he played a significant role in assuring the illegal
transactions were conpleted. He also profited, at |east
indirectly, fromthem The district court did not err in denying
a downward adj ust nent.
VI

Def endant s Kunmrer and Jer ni gan nake certain other contentions
that we treat briefly because of the possibility these defendants
will not wthdraw their guilty pleas, or the issues wll arise
again after their trial.

Def endant Kummrer argues that the district court erred in not
departing bel ow the Gui deli ne range based on the governnent's USSG
8§ 5K1.1 notion to depart because of his substantial assistance. W
cannot review a court's refusal to grant a downward departure
unless the district court erred in concluding it did not have
authority to depart. United States v. Fossett, 881 F.2d 976, 979-
80 (11th Cir.1989). At the sentencing hearing the court resolved
the defendant's objections to the PSR, and found a total offense
| evel of 15 and crimnal history of 1, indicating a sentencing
range of eighteen to twenty-four nmonths. After hearing testinony
of defendant Kunmmer's assistance to the governnent, the court
stated that it had read "the 5K1.1 notion filed by the governnent
which the Court grants.” 3 R at 56 (No. 95-9066). The court,
however, then sentenced def endant Kummer to ei ghteen nonths, which
woul d not be a downward departure. On remand the district court
should clarify this point if Kunmer does not withdraw his guilty
pl ea.

As to defendant Jernigan's argunment that he should have



received a departure outside the Guidelines range because his
behavi or was aberrational and not within the heartland of cases
controlled by the G@uidelines, we note that the governnent
recommended and the district court granted Jernigan a downward
departure to twenty-four nonths for cooperation. The court clearly
acknow edged that it coul d depart further downward but chose not to
do so. Defendant Jernigan also argues that he was entitled to a
downward adjustnent under USSG 8§ 3Bl1.2 as a mnor or mnimnal
partici pant. He asserts he was unsophisticated in business
affairs, and attenpts to frame the "offense” as Tahoe's overal
i nvestment schene. But the offense of conviction involved here is
the giving of a loan in exchange for or as a result of Jernigan's
$253,000 investnent in Tahoe. W fail to see how defendant
Jerni gan can argue he had a minor or mnimal role in the offense of
conviction. There was no abuse of the court's discretion. The
ot her issues he raised are neritless and deserve no di scussion.

Def endants Jernigan and Kummer request that a new judge be
assigned to conduct proceedings on renmand. After reading the
record we are satisfied the district judge who conducted these
proceedings did nothing to justify reassignnent. Therefore, we
decline the request.

AFFIRVED in part, REVERSED in part, and REMANDED for

proceedi ngs consistent with this opinion.



